THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

General Sessions Case No. 2011GS2401613  
Appellate Case No. 2013-000548

---

The State, . . . . . Respondent,

v

Donkevius Durell Jones, . . . . . Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Janna A. Nelson  
Circuit Defender  
Eighth Judicial Circuit  
Park Plaza, Suite 208  
Box P-133  
Greenwood, SC 29646  
(864) 229-9505  
Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED

JAN 20 2015

SC Court of Appeals

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. The Court erred in holding the restitution hearing when over 15 months had passed since Jones was sentenced.**
- 2. The Court erred in granting restitution for pecuniary loss for damage to property that Jones was never charged with damaging and did not plead guilty to damaging.**
- 3. The Court erred in failing to properly consider Jones's financial resources and his ability to pay restitution.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 22, 2011, Appellant Donkevius Durell Jones ("Jones"), along with two other co-defendants and a fourth unidentified male who was never charged, entered Lakelands Cycles and Detailing in Greenwood, South Carolina. They gained entry by prying open a door of the business. Once inside, Jones and his co-defendants loaded some of the inventory and equipment into the back of a Chevrolet pickup truck. Law enforcement officers arrived on the scene while Jones and his co-defendants were still present at the business. Jones and two of the other participants (a co-defendant and the unidentified male) fled the scene by driving the truck out of the garage of the business, through a partially-raised metal garage door. Officers were standing in front of or near the garage door when the truck exited the garage. Officers fired on the truck as it left the incident location. The other co-defendant was apprehended on the scene and implicated Jones when questioned. The truck and stolen items were recovered shortly afterward about half a mile away from the incident location.

Officers obtained arrest warrants for Jones for the following offenses: Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature ("ABHAN") (two counts), Burglary 2<sup>nd</sup>

(Violent); Malicious Injury to Real Property between \$2,000 and \$10,000 (“MIRP”); and Grand Larceny over \$10,000 (R.p. 1-5). Jones came to the Sheriff’s Office and turned himself in on the afternoon of April 22, 2011, and was arrested on all but the two ABHAN warrants. On April 26, 2011, law enforcement obtained two additional arrest warrants for Mr. Jones for the offenses of Autobreaking and Petit Larceny (R.p. 6-7). These two warrants were related to the theft of the Chevrolet pickup truck used in the burglary. Jones was served with those two warrants as well as the two ABHAN warrants on April 29, 2011. On August 19, 2011, the Greenwood County Grand Jury indicted Jones on two counts of Assault and Battery 1<sup>st</sup> (“A&B1st”), Burglary 2<sup>nd</sup> (Violent), MIRP between \$2,000 and \$10,000, Petit Larceny, Grand Larceny over \$10,000, and Autobreaking (R.p. 8-21).

On September 1, 2011, Jones pled guilty to two counts of A&B1st, Burglary 2<sup>nd</sup> (Violent), and Petit Larceny. After accepting Jones’s plea, Eugene C Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge, recessed the hearing until the following day, when he sentenced Jones to time served on the Burglary and Petit Larceny charges, and a term not to exceed six years under the Youthful Offender Act on the two A&B1st charges, with a recommendation for Shock Incarceration.<sup>1</sup> The sentencing sheet for one of the A&B1st charges notes that a restitution hearing would be deferred. At sentencing, counsel for Jones requested that the

---

<sup>1</sup>Although the sentencing sheets are all dated September 1, 2011, it is clear from the sentencing transcript that Jones’s guilty plea was taken on that date, but that the sentences were actually imposed the following day after Judge Griffith called a recess and deferred sentencing until September 2, 2011 (R p 41, ll 11-18)

issue of restitution be held open for a limited amount of time (R.p 39, ll. 16-25) Judge Griffith noted that a hearing was required and said, “[t]he schedule – hopefully October term – subject to everybody [sic] availability.” (R.p 46, ll 23-25). There were terms of court for Greenwood County General Sessions cases during the weeks of October 10 and October 17, 2011, but the state did not attempt to hold the restitution hearing during either of those terms.

When the South Carolina Department of Corrections determined that Jones was ineligible for Shock Incarceration due to his plea to a Burglary 2<sup>nd</sup> charge, Judge Griffith amended the sentence on the two A&B1st charges to six years suspended to the service of 15 months and 36 months probation, with credit for 134 days served, and with a provision that probation would terminate after conditions of probation were met, including payment of any restitution (R.p. 50-51) Jones was released from prison in December 2011 and began serving the probationary period of his sentence upon his release. A restitution hearing was not held until December 18, 2012, over 15 months after Jones was sentenced and approximately one year after he began serving the probationary period of his sentence.

Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge, presided over the restitution hearing. The State presented testimony from Michelle Boggs (“Boggs”), owner of Lakelands Cycles and Detailing along with her husband, Bradley Boggs. Boggs originally sought restitution of almost \$23,000.00, but had modified that amount by the time of the hearing to a request for restitution in the amount of \$6,959.37 (R.p 70, ll. 4-6, 15-17). The defense presented testimony from Jones regarding his

ability to pay (R.p. 85 l. 17,-p. 89, l. 13). On December 21, 2012, Judge Addy ordered Jones to pay \$6,959.37, the full amount of restitution sought (R.p. 105-110). On December 31, 2012, counsel for Jones filed a Motion to Reconsider the restitution order (R.p. 111-114), and Judge Addy denied that motion on February 23, 2013 (R.p. 115-116) Jones's Notice of Appeal from that Order followed on March 5, 2013 and was filed in the South Carolina Court of Appeals on March 11, 2013.

### FACTS

The breakdown of the restitution claimed by Boggs is as follows.

- a. \$100 for repair to an electrical box allegedly damaged during the burglary. Boggs did not have a receipt to document this cost (R.p. 71, ll. 10 – p. 72, l. 2);
- b. \$840.00 to replace a metal roll-down garage bay door. However, Boggs testified that this was the value of the door that was damaged, but the cost of the door actually purchased to replace the damaged door cost \$400.00 less (R.p. 72, ll. 3-24);
- c. \$1,050 for a replacement entry door. However, Boggs testified that the door had not been replaced but that she had simply put a plate on it to conceal the damage (R.p. 73, ll. 9-25);
- d. \$53.55 for replacement door locks (R.p. 74, ll. 1-6);
- e. \$150 value of pressure washer (R.p. 74, ll. 7-17);
- f. \$140 for repairs to a Peace Sports scooter (R.p. 75, ll. 1-10),
- g. \$155.97 for repairs to a Suzuki JR 80 (R.p. 75, ll. 11-20);
- h. \$3,061.50 for repairs to a **1971 Chevrolet truck** (R.p. 75, l. 21 – p. 76, l. 23, p. 81) (emphasis added). However, Boggs later testified that insurance had paid \$1,221.00 for damage to the truck (R.p. 80, l. 25 – p. 81, l. 6, ll. 15-17). It is important to note that this truck is **not** the truck used to flee the business, which was a 1992 Chevrolet truck belonging to James Devore (R.p. 8-11). There was no restitution claimed by Mr. Devore related to the 1992 Chevrolet truck which Jones was charged with breaking into and stealing;
- i. \$62.96 for carpet cleaning. However, Boggs testified that she and her husband cleaned the carpet themselves and the actual cost of the supplies was only \$12.96 (R.p. 76, l. 24 – p. 77, l. 13);
- j. \$398 to replace batteries for two Razor scooters (R.p. 77, l. 14 – p. 78, l. 4),

- k. \$258 for repairs to a Coolster dirt bike (R.p. 78, ll. 5-13);
- l. \$490 for repairs to an Aelous scooter (R.p. 78, l. 21 – p. 79, l. 2);
- m. \$199.39 costs for repairs to the premises (R. p. 106)

Jones stipulated to \$440 for the actual cost of replacing the metal roll-down garage bay door and the cost of \$53.55 for replacement door locks (R.p. 80, ll.1-8).

Boggs testified that she did not have insurance on the business (R.p. 80, ll. 14-15). She also testified that she had prepared the list of claimed damages at least as long ago as October 2011, when Jones was resentenced (R.p. 84, ll. 15-23).

Jones testified that he worked at Carolina Pride driving a forklift, and had held that job for approximately eight months (R.p. 85, ll. 17-23). He made \$7.25 per hour for working 28 hours per week, which was the maximum amount of hours available to him in that position (R.p. 86, ll. 3-24). Child support of \$64.86 plus a \$3.00 service fee was deducted from each weekly check, for the support of one of his children, leaving him with net pay of \$126.40 per week (R.p. 87, ll. 2-15). Jones testified that he paid child support of \$100 per month directly to the mother of his second child (R.p. 87, l. 16 – p. 88, l. 2). He also paid \$50.00 per month for his probation fee, along with other probation costs (R. p. 88, ll. 3-19). Finally, Jones testified that he lived with his mother and tried to give her \$50.00 every two weeks to help with household expenses (R.p. 88, l. 23 – p. 89, l. 9).

Jones denied doing any damage to an electrical box during the burglary (R. p. 89, l. 21 – p. 90, l. 11). He acknowledged that he did not plead guilty to anything related to a 1971 Chevrolet truck for which Boggs was claiming \$3,061.50 in damages, but rather that he plead guilty only to burglary for going into the building, assault on the two police

officers, and, petit larceny for the truck he and his co-defendants actually drove away from the business (R.p. 90, l. 24 – p. 91, l. 17). There was no request made at the hearing for any damages related to the theft of the 1992 truck driven away from the business, nor was there any request for damages from the two police officers who were victims in the A&B1st cases.

## ARGUMENTS

### **1. The Court erred in holding the restitution hearing when over 15 months had passed since Jones was sentenced.**

While S.C. Code Sec. 17-25-322, the statute providing for a hearing to determine the amount of restitution owed to a crime victim, does not provide a time limit in which the hearing should be held, case law interpreting the statute holds that the restitution hearing is part of the sentencing proceeding. As such, a delay of over 15 months should be considered to be an extreme delay in resolution of the case that unduly prejudiced Jones, in violation of his due process rights under the Constitutions of the United States and South Carolina USCA Const. Amend V, SC Const. Art I, Sec 3.

When Judge Griffith amended Jones's sentence on October 26, 2011, he provided that Jones spend three years on probation after completing his active prison sentence of 15 months, and with the provision that Jones's probation could terminate on payment of any restitution and other costs (R.p. 50-51). By the time the restitution hearing was finally held, Jones had already completed nearly a year of his probationary sentence, and therefore lost the opportunity to pay toward restitution for that entire time. The delay was not of Jones's own making as he never asked for any continuance of the hearing or raised any conflict with having the hearing

set at an earlier date. Rather, the delay was entirely on the part of the state not taking steps to seek restitution for the victims in an appropriate time frame. Furthermore, at the original sentencing hearing on September 1, 2011, counsel for Jones asked that the issue of restitution be held open for a limited time, and Judge Griffith's response suggested the October term, which would take place about six weeks later (R.p. 39, ll. 16-25, p. 46, ll. 23-25). The state failed to seek a restitution hearing during that term, even though Jones's sentence was amended by Judge Griffith during that same term.

Federal law also provides for restitution hearings to determine pecuniary loss. 18 USCA Sec. 3664. The federal statute provides that when a hearing is required, it is to take place no later than 90 days after sentencing. 18 USCA Sec. 3664(d)(5). While South Carolina's statute does not have a similar provision, it is useful to see this time limit as a guideline for a reasonable amount of time for a restitution issue to remain outstanding. Holding a hearing within 90 days after sentencing is certainly reasonable and ensures finality for the defendant in addition to ensuring that payments to victims begin sooner rather than later.

There are federal cases holding that there are circumstances in which a restitution hearing can be held beyond the 90-day statutory time limit, but in the majority of those cases, the delay was short and not comparable to the situation in the case at bar. In *U.S. v. Martinez*, 295 Fed. Appx. 460 (2d Cir. 2008), the court held there was no prejudice to defendant when the hearing took place 112 days after sentencing. In that case, no prejudice was raised, and the delay of only a few weeks after the 90-day deadline was

due to administrative problems with transporting the defendant to the hearing. In contrast, Jones does claim prejudice in this case due to his having spent a year on probation without any restitution order being issued and with the delay being solely caused by the state's failure to seek a hearing within a reasonable time frame. *See also, U.S v Douglas*, 525 F.3d 225, 252-53 (2d Cir. 2008) (holding that, where restitution order was entered 94 days after sentencing, "an extension of the proceedings beyond the 90-day period provides no basis for vacating the restitution order unless the defendant can show that the extension caused him actual prejudice"); *U S v Brannon*, 476 Fed. Appx. 386 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2012) (holding that a restitution hearing held approximately five months after sentencing did not prejudice defendant when defense counsel waived the 90-day time limit); *Dolan v. U.S.*, 560 U.S. 605, 130 S.Ct. 2533 (2010) (holding that a restitution hearing held approximately six months after sentencing did not prejudice defendant, but leaving open the possibility that a delay could cause prejudice to a defendant)

In considering the federal scheme for the award of restitution, it is also important to note that the statute provides for both the probation office and the attorney for the government to cooperate in compiling information in a timely fashion for the court to use to determine the appropriate amount of restitution, as well as provisions for the defendant to provide information on his ability to pay. 18 USCA Sec. 3664(a), (d). The South Carolina statute does not assign responsibilities such as these that would help to move the restitution hearing process along more quickly. Furthermore, if the restitution hearing

had not been allowed to proceed due to the delay, the victims would still have had the right to pursue a civil suit against Jones for the claimed damages. Although he might have been required to pay a civil judgment, Jones would not have been required to remain on probation or pay a twenty percent collection fee.

The State's failure to seek a restitution hearing in a timely fashion in this case prejudiced Jones and violated his due process rights, and the hearing should not have been held over 15 months after sentencing for those reasons.

**2. The Court erred in granting restitution for pecuniary loss for damage to property that Jones was never charged with damaging and did not plead guilty to damaging.**

The statute providing for restitution to crime victims provides, in part, that “[w]hen a defendant is **convicted of a crime** which has resulted in pecuniary damages or loss to a victim, the court must hold a hearing to determine the amount of restitution due the victim or victims of the **defendant’s criminal acts.**” S.C Code Sec 17-25-322(A) (emphasis added). It is clear from the plain language of the statute that the amount of restitution awarded is directly linked to the crime(s) for which the defendant is convicted. Based on this language, Judge Addy did not have the power to award restitution for alleged pecuniary damages or losses that bear no connection whatsoever with the crimes to which Jones pled guilty.

In this case, Jones did not dispute that restitution was appropriate for the actual replacement cost of \$440.00 for the metal roll-down garage bay door that was damaged when he and his co-defendants fled from the building (R.p. 80, ll. 1-8). If restitution is allowed to be awarded after such a long delay, it would also be appropriate to order \$53.55, which covered the cost of replacement locks and a plate for the entry door.

However, it was undisputed that the stolen items were recovered shortly after being taken from the business, and as counsel for Jones argued at the hearing, there was no evidence taken to indicate that the damages alleged to the recovered property did not exist prior to the burglary (R.p. 94, l. 25 – p. 95, l. 9). While Jones did plead guilty to burglary and can arguably be held responsible for the damage related to entering and leaving the business if the issue of delay is disregarded, he did not plead guilty to the Grand Larceny or MIRP charges. Even considering those charges, the stolen property was recovered in a very short time, and the damaged property listed in the indictment for the MIRP charge was limited to “two (2) doors of a building of Lakelands Custom Cycles ” (R.p. 16-17).

Most significantly, neither Jones nor either of his co-defendants were charged with any criminal activity related to the 1971 Chevrolet truck in the parking lot of the business (see R.p. 8-21). The damages of \$3,061.50 alleged for repair of that truck are in no way Jones’s responsibility, since the restitution statute limits recovery for losses related to crimes for which the defendant is actually convicted. S.C. Code Sec 17-25-322. Furthermore, the facts supporting Jones’s plea at sentencing made absolutely no reference whatsoever to the 1971 Chevrolet truck in the parking lot of the business, so there can be no argument that Jones either implicitly or explicitly agreed that a restitution hearing should cover damage to a truck that was in no way related to any crime with which he was charged (R.p. 32, l. 20 – p. 33, l. 23).

Although evidence received during a restitution hearing is not subject to the rules of evidence regarding admissibility, the evidence must nevertheless have probative value and must therefore be relevant and reliable. *State v Gullledge*, 326 S.C. 220, 487 S.E.2d 590 (1997). In this case, at a minimum, the testimony regarding the alleged damages to the 1971 Chevrolet truck was neither relevant nor reliable and should not have been considered by the court in awarding restitution.

**3. The Court erred in failing to properly consider Jones's financial resources and his ability to pay restitution.**

It was undisputed at the restitution hearing that Jones made only \$7.25 per hour as a forklift operator and was limited to only 28 hours per week of work by his employer (R p. 86, ll. 3-24). The restitution statute allows the court to consider the "financial resources of the defendant" and the "burden that the manner or method of restitution will impose upon" him, as well as "the ability of the defendant to pay restitution on an installment basis or other conditions to be fixed by the court." S.C. Code Sec. 17-25-322(B)(1), (2). In ordering the full amount of restitution claimed, the court failed to properly consider Jones's limited income and the fact that his expenses consumed the majority of that income.

Furthermore, the restitution statute provides for a twenty percent collection fee. S.C. Code Sec 17-25-322(D). In this case, based on the amount Judge Addy awarded, 20 percent amounts to an additional \$1,391.87. Also, the statute requires that "[t]he restitution order shall specify a monthly payment schedule that will result in full payment for both restitution and collection fees by the end of eighty percent of the offender's supervision period. S.C. Code Sec. 17-25-322(C). In this case, eighty percent of Jones's

supervision period would have occurred at approximately 29 months of supervision. Since he had already served approximately one year of probation, this left only about 17 months in which the restitution and collection fees were required to be paid by statute. Jones would have had to pay nearly \$500.00 per month in order to pay off the restitution ordered in that time frame, which would have been impossible at his earning level.