ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-000548

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

DONKEVIS DURELL JONES,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JAN 06 2015

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The circuit court’s decision to conduct a restitution hearing pursuant to section 17-25-322 of the S.C. Code did not violate Appellant’s due process rights despite a fifteen month delay where: (1) the sentencing judge ordered that while restitution was “deferred,” a hearing was “required”; (2) Appellant’s term of probation had not yet expired; and (3) Appellant suffered no prejudice from the delay.

Appellant argues the delay of over fifteen (15) months between imposition of the original sentence and the restitution hearing “should be considered an extreme delay in resolution of the case that unduly prejudiced [Appellant], in violation of his due process rights ” He claims he suffered prejudice because he “lost the opportunity to pay toward restitution” during a delay which was not of his own making and was caused entirely by the State by “not taking steps to seek restitution for the victims in an appropriate time frame.” Appellant then references a Federal statute² regarding the timeliness of restitution hearings and argues the time frames in that statute should serve as a guideline for what constitutes a permissible amount of time for a restitution issue to remain outstanding in South Carolina. The State submits Appellant’s arguments are wholly without merit and should be dismissed on several grounds.

Initially, to the extent Appellant is arguing his due process rights were violated, the State submits the argument is not preserved for review because Appellant affirmatively waived all constitutional due process rights as part of his guilty plea. (R. p.31, line 4-p.32, line 17). The restitution hearing is part of the sentencing proceeding. State v. Gullede, 326 S C 220, 228, 487 S E.2d 590, 594 (1997). Likewise, the sentencing proceeding is part-and-parcel of the guilty plea proceeding. South Carolina

² 18 U S C § 3664(d)(5)

does not recognize conditional guilty pleas. State v. Rice, 401 S.C. 330, 331, 737 S.E.2d 485, 485 (2013); State v. Truesdale, 278 S.C. 368, 370, 296 S.E.2d 528, 529 (1982). Indeed, a guilty plea constitutes a waiver of nonjurisdictional defects and claims of violations of constitutional rights Rice, 401 S.C. at 331-32, 737 S.E.2d at 485-86. Appellant's attempt to challenge the imposition of restitution as a violation of his constitutional rights after he knowingly and voluntarily waived those rights and entered a guilty plea is akin to offering a conditional guilty plea. Thus, this argument should be denied and dismissed as unpreserved. To the extent this Court disagrees, the State submits Appellant's argument is nevertheless without merit.

The South Carolina Code provides in part that:

When a defendant is convicted of a crime which has resulted in pecuniary damages or loss to a victim, the court must hold a hearing to determine the amount of restitution due the victim or victims of the defendant's criminal acts. The restitution hearings must be held unless the defendant in open court agrees to the amount due, and in addition to any other sentence which it may impose, the court shall order the defendant make restitution or compensate the victim for any pecuniary damages.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-322(A) (Supp. 2010) (emphasis added). Here, the circuit court recognized that a restitution hearing was mandatory because the defendant did not agree to the amount due. The court appropriately ordered such a hearing was "required" at some point in the future. Both Appellant and the State agreed a hearing must be held, and although Appellant asked that the hearing be conducted in a "limited amount of time," the order does not reflect any such time limit. Thus, as long as the circuit court retained jurisdiction over restitution, Judge Addy committed no error in conducting the restitution hearing, regardless of the length of the delay. The circuit court acted in

compliance with both the statute and Judge Griffith's order. The decision to conduct the restitution hearing should be affirmed.

Although the statutory provision sets no time limit in which the restitution hearing should be held, in a parallel scenario this Court has held the family court retains jurisdiction to order restitution for a juvenile delinquent as long as the juvenile's term of probation has not yet expired. In re Terrence M., 368 S.C. 276, 279, 628 S.E.2d 295, 296-97 (Ct. App. 2006). In the case of an adult defendant, the Code indicates the circuit court likewise retains jurisdiction to order restitution until the defendant's sentence and probation or parole expires. See S C. Code Ann. § 17-25-323(A) (Supp. 2010) ("The trial court retains jurisdiction of the case for the purpose of modifying the manner in which court-ordered payments are made until paid in full, or until the defendant's active sentence and probation or parole expires."). Where the circuit court retained jurisdiction, the fifteen-month delay in Appellant's case was not extreme, particularly in comparison to the delay in Terrance M. Terrance M. was adjudicated delinquent on November 21, 2002, and his restitution hearing was not held until January 20, 2005, twenty-six (26) months later, nearly a year longer than the delay in Appellant's case. The circuit court had jurisdiction to conduct Appellant's restitution hearing because Appellant's sentence, including his active sentence and probation, had not expired, and Appellant was afforded due process at that hearing. Therefore, the decision to conduct the restitution hearing should be affirmed.

Additionally, the claim that Appellant was somehow prejudiced by the delay because he was unable to make restitution payments while waiting for the restitution hearing is absurd. Appellant knew he would owe restitution for the victims' pecuniary

damages when he entered his plea and he knew the State was originally seeking over \$22,000 dollars in restitution. Absolutely nothing prevented Appellant from taking steps to set aside or save money during the delay in anticipation of this restitution obligation, regardless of whether a total restitution amount had been determined or a monthly payment schedule imposed. To suggest, much less argue, that Appellant has suffered some wrong or prejudice by the delay in holding his restitution hearing offends the very nature of restitution and the primary goal of making an innocent victim whole. See Dolan v. United States, 560 U.S. 605, 611 (2010) (holding that a sentencing court which misses the federal statute’s 90-day deadline for conducting a restitution hearing, even through its own fault or the fault of the Government, does not deprive that court of the power to order restitution) In Dolan, the United States Supreme Court listed six considerations supporting its holding including that: (1) “the statute seeks speed primarily to help the victims of crime and only secondarily to help the defendant”; (2) “to read the statute as depriving the sentencing court of the power to order restitution would harm those – the victims of crime – who likely bear no responsibility for the deadline’s being missed and whom the statute also seeks to benefit”; and (3) “the defendant normally can mitigate any harm that a missed deadline might cause-at least if, as here, he obtains the relevant information regarding the restitution amount before the 90-day deadline expires.” Dolan, 560 U.S. at 611-16. Appellant has failed to demonstrate any actual prejudice, such as a delay that deprived him of evidence to rebut the claimed restitution amount. Thus, the only interested parties to suffer from the delay were the victims, Mr. and Mrs. Boggs. Their suffering should not be extended by creating an arbitrary time

frame for conducting a restitution hearing in South Carolina where the circuit court still clearly had jurisdiction to act.

Finally, to the extent this Court finds prejudicial error in either the timing or the manner in which restitution was imposed, the State submits any grant of relief must include a new sentencing proceeding, with reconsideration of both the imposition of the sentence and the imposition of restitution.

II.

The circuit court properly awarded restitution for pecuniary loss for property damaged during the commission of the crimes where there was an evidentiary basis for the amount of restitution ordered.

Appellant argues Judge Addy did not have the power to award restitution for alleged pecuniary damages or losses that bear no connection whatsoever to the crimes to which he pled guilty. He contends that because neither he nor his co-defendants were actually charged with any criminal activity related to the 1971 Chevrolet truck in the parking lot of the business, the circuit court could not order restitution for damages allegedly caused to that truck during the commission of the burglary. Appellant also argues there was no evidence presented by the State to prove that the damages to some of the recovered property did not exist prior to the burglary and that therefore, he should not be liable for those damages. The State disagrees and submits Appellant's arguments are without merit.

Even before the 1993 enactment of Section 17-25-322 of the South Carolina Code in 1993, our Supreme Court recognized that the court of general sessions may order reparation to a victim, but in doing so it must hold a hearing and determine the actual

amount of damage or loss, and there must be a factual basis for the determination. State v. Fussell, 299 S.C. 162, 163, 383 S.E.2d 1, 1 (1989). The Code now mandates that the court hold a hearing to determine the amount of restitution due the victim or victims of a defendant's criminal acts S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-322(A) (Supp. 2010). "Restitution' means payment for all injuries, specific losses, and expenses sustained by a crime victim resulting from an offender's criminal conduct" and includes 'specific damages and economic losses.'" S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-1110(12)(a) (Supp. 2010). The trial judge is allowed broad discretion in conducting the restitution hearing. State v. Gullledge, 326 S.C. 220, 487 S.E.2d 590, 594-95 (1997). However, the defendant must receive notice of the hearing, and during the hearing, the defendant must be given the opportunity to be heard and to cross-examine witnesses. Id. Further, the evidence admitted during the restitution hearing must be reliable and trustworthy. Id. The restitution hearing is part of the sentencing proceeding. Id. A judge had discretion to impose any sentence which is within the limits prescribed by statute. State v. Bynes, 304 S.C. 62, 64, 404 S.E.2d 126, 127 (Ct. App. 1991). Absent a positive rule limiting this discretion, a judge acts properly in considering restitution for unindicted offenses as a condition of probation as long as the defendant knowingly consents to the judge's consideration of those crimes and there is some evidentiary basis for the amount of restitution ordered. Id.

In the instant case, the circuit court considered and ordered restitution for specific damages associated with the crimes for which Appellant pled guilty. Any economic damage suffered by the victim as a result of those crimes meets the statutory definition for restitution. There is no requirement that each item of personal property damaged in a crime must be charged and indicted as a separate offense. Indeed, such a requirement

would be unworkable. The damage to the 1971 truck was simply not restitution for an unindicted offense. However, even if it is characterized as such, Appellant implicitly consented to the judge considering that unindicted crime when he pled guilty to the remaining offenses.

Here, the victim testified the truck was damaged when the burglars tried to steal it during the burglary. She also testified the damage to the recovered items was incurred during the burglary. The circuit court found her testimony credible. This testimony provided a sufficient evidentiary basis to support the award of restitution. Because the evidentiary threshold was met, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion and the restitution should be affirmed.

III.

The circuit court properly awarded restitution in the reduced amount requested by the victims after duly considering all relevant factors including Appellant's ability to pay.

Appellant argues that in ordering the full amount of restitution claimed, the circuit court failed to properly consider his limited income and the fact that his expenses consumed the majority of that income. To the contrary, the court specifically considered these factors, along with others, prior to imposing a restitution amount that was less than one-third of the amount originally requested by the victims.

The South Carolina Code provides:

(B) In determining the manner, method, or amount of restitution to be ordered, the court may take into consideration the following:

(1) the financial resources of the defendant and the victim and the burden that the manner or method of restitution will impose upon the victim or the defendant;

(2) the ability of the defendant to pay restitution on an installment basis or on other conditions to be fixed by the court;

(3) the anticipated rehabilitative effect on the defendant regarding the manner of restitution or the method of payment;

(4) any burden or hardship upon the victim as a direct or indirect result of the defendant's criminal acts;

(5) the mental, physical, and financial well-being of the victim.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-322(B) (Supp. 2010). The restitution hearing is part of the sentencing proceeding. Gulledge, 326 S.C. at 228, 487 S.E.2d at 594 (1997). A sentencing court is allowed broad discretion in sentencing within statutory limits. Brooks v. State, 325 S.C. 269, 271, 481 S.E.2d 712, 713 (1997). A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010). This Court has previously affirmed an award of restitution where the judge carefully considered the enumerated statutory factors and made specific findings of the underlying facts and circumstances on the record before imposing restitution. State v. Cox, 326 S.C. 440, 442-43, 484 S.E.2d 108, 109-10 (Ct. App. 1997). A similar analysis controls here. Judge Addy carefully considered each of the enumerated statutory factors and made specific findings on the record to support the award of restitution. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion and its restitution determination should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION


For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the judgment, conviction, sentence, and restitution order of the lower court be affirmed.